
 

 

NUISANCE ABATEMENT BOARD 
July 16, 2025 

 
CALL TO ORDER – 3 p.m. 

 
ROLL CALL 

 
Terry Carter – Vice Chair David Stille 

Elena Giarratano Daniel Price 
John Quirk III – Chair  

Alonzo Thompson  
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES – April 16, 2025 
 

SWEAR IN WITNESSES 
Do you swear or affirm that the evidence you are about to give will be the truth, the 
whole truth, and nothing but the truth? 

 
NEW COMPLAINTS 

2025-004 1639 Norman Dr. 
Phenestor Leopold 

M 
S 
A 

2025-005 815 N. Mass Ave. 
815 N Mass Ave LLC 

M 
S 
A 

 
RECONSIDERATION - None 

 
CALL FOR ADJOURNMENT 



Nuisance Abatement Board 
May 21, 2025 

 
The Nuisance Abatement Board met in the City Commission Chambers.  Members Terry 
Carter (Vice Chair), Elena Giarratano, Daniel Price, and David Stille were present.  John 
Quirk (Chair), and Alonzo Thompson were absent.  Assistant City Attorney Alex 
Landback, Police General Counsel David Carmichael, and City Clerk Kelly Koos were 
present. 
 

Approval of minutes – April 16, 2025 
 

Action:  Daniel Price moved to approve the minutes.  David Stille seconded and 
the motion carried unanimously. 
 

Swear In Witnesses - None 
 

Reconsideration 
 
2025-001 4406 Horse Creek Ln. 
 
David Carmichael explained the City of Lakeland reached a settlement agreement in this 
case.  The Board had previously entered an order to close this property.  The City 
received a request for reconsideration.  The Board granted the motion for 
reconsideration.  In the interim, the attorney filed an appeal in the court of appeals.  The 
settlement agreement includes a 6-month period of probation and future violation would 
result in a 12-month closure and $18,000 fine. 
 
Recommendation:  Mr. Carmichael recommended the Nuisance Abatement Board 
adopt the settlement agreement. 
 
The Board discussed: 

• The appeal.  The appeal process would take approximately 9-months.  The 
appeals go away if the settlement agreement is adopted.  The City cannot act 
while the appeals are in motion. 

• The settlement.  Possible alternatives. Alternatives were subject to additional 
negotiation.  The owners would be under probation for 6-months.  Future 
violations would result in closure and fines.  The owners waive their right to appeal 
during those 6 months.  Future violations would be brought to the Board for 
closure. 

• The goal is compliance.  There has been no activity since the previous order. 
 
Action:  Daniel Price moved to approve the recommendation.  Terry Carter 
seconded and the motion carried unanimously. 
 
The Board adjourned 3:36 p.m. 
 



















NUISANCE ABATEMENT BOARD OF THE 

CITY OF LAKELAND, FLORIDA 

COMPLAINT 

NAME AND ADDRESS OF OWNER(S}: 

(1) 815 N MASS AVE LLC 

Title Manager: Odel Odeh 

805 N. Massachusetts Avenue 

Lakeland, FL 33801 

(2) 815 N MASS AVE LLC 

Title Manager: Raia Odeh 

805 N. Massachusetts Avenue 

Lakeland, FL 33801 

Address of Property: 815 N. Massachusetts Avenue 
Lakeland. FL 33801 

CASE NO. 2025-___ _ 

Legal Description: (***DEED APPEARS IN ERROR***} SCHIPMANS SURVEY DB G PG 360 361 BLK 20 LOT 
3 LESS S 15 FT & THAT PORTION OF Sl/2 LOT 5 DESC AS BEG SW COR S 1/2 LOT 5 
RUN N 38 FT E 75 FT S 10.94 FT E 60 FT S 26.67 FT W 135 FT TO POB 

Dates of Violations: Between September 8, 2024, and February 14, 2025 

Violation of Florida Statute: 893.13 

Complainant's Name: NLO Officer M. Hammersla #106 

DESCRIPTION OF VIOLATIONS: 

STATE OF FLORIDA ) 

COUNTY OF POLK ) 

I, Officer Michael Hammersla, on the 20th day of June 2025, after being duly sworn, do hereby 
solemnly swear, certify, and depose that: 

I am a Police Officer assigned to the Special Operations Division, Neighborhood Liaison Section 
of the Lakeland Police Department. I have over thirty (30) years of experience in law enforcement and have 
participated in numerous narcotics investigations as well as nuisance investigations. 

1 of 5 



The forthcoming attached police reports will document the ongoing narcotics and nuisance 
activities at 815 N. Massachusetts Avenue, Lakeland Polk County, Florida. 

Ownership of the property appears in the records of the Polk County Property Appraiser's Office 
as "815 N MASS AVE LLC" who acquired the property on November 19, 2012 in a Quit-Claim deed from 
the LLC's registered manager's Odel Odeh and Raia Odeh, who purchased the property originally on 
January 25tti, 2000. 

Since 2013, and according to the Lakeland Police Department databases, there have been over two 
thousand six hundred and sixty-one (2,661) police calls for service. In just the last year, between April 1 si, 
2024 and March 31st, 2025, there have been three hundred and twenty-three (323) calls for police service 
resulting in one hundred and thirteen (113) arrests. These arrests include dangerous drugs, robbery, armed 
trespass, and alcohol violations among others. No actions have been taken on the part of the owner that 
evidence any deterrence of the illegal activities on the property. The property has been a location oframpant 
drug cases as well as other felonies, misdemeanors, and general nuisance activities. 

In the six (6) month period between September 8, 2024 to February 14, 2025, there were at least 
11 arrests for illegal narcotics crimes at this location. The below listed cases, from this six ( 6) month period 
of time, show two (2) cases of narcotics sales, two (2) cases of possession with intent to sell narcotics, and 
numerous felony narcotics possession cases, all meeting the qualifying crimes for Nuisance Abatement of 
the property. 

1. Case #2024-85116 on 9/8/2024 Officer Fermin #125 
Officer witnessed a hand-to-hand narcotics transaction and was able to arrest the 
buyer. The buyer was in possession of crack cocaine and marijuana. 

2. Case #2024-89143- on 09/20/2024 Officer Buttrey #315 
Officer witnessed a hand-to-hand narcotics transaction from a vehicle in parking lot. 
Subject arrested for possession of crack cocaine. Seller later charged with sale of cocaine 

3. Case #2024-89316- on 09/20/2024 Officer Vaughn #207 
Officer observed a known subject that was prior trespassed from property. After arrest 
she was found in possession of Methamphetamine 

4. Case #2024-93077- on 10/02/2024 Officer Stokes #237 
Officer Stokes was dispatched to a robbery. During the course of the robbery call, the 
woman who was robbed was struck by the male defendant. Defendant fled to and was 
located at the store. 

5. Case #2024-107927 on 11/13/2024 Officer Stokes #237 
Officer observed a subject who was previously trespassed loitering in front of the store. 
The defendant was in possession of a trafficking amount of fentanyl. Subject was 
charged with sale/delivery of narcotics. 

6. Case #2024-109847 on 11/20/2024 Officer Fermin #125 
Officer observed a subject who was loitering in front of the store with multiple small 
items in his hands, subject attempted to conceal items. Subject was arrested for 
possession of methamphetamine 

2 of 5 



7. Case #2024-118075- on 12/18/2024 Officer West #295 
Officer observed subjects loitering in front of the store. One subject arrested for 
possession of cocaine 

8. Case #2024-119062 on 12/21/2024 Officer Stokes #237 
Officer responded to a call at the store and made an arrest for Possession with Intent to 
Sell Counterfeit Controlled Substance among other charges. The drugs in question were 
methamphetamines, some of which were pure, some cut with sugar and salt, and some 
complete fakes. The defendant admitted to selling and intending to continue to sell. 

9. Case #2025-133- on 01/01/2025 Officer West #295 
Officer observed a known suspect, known to have been previously trespassed, loitering 
in front of the business. Post-arrest for trespass, the suspect was found to be in possession 
of Methampbetamine 

10. Case #2025-5416- on 01/18/2025 Officer Cruz #323 
Officer responded to a disturbance call at the store. Suspect was detained after brief foot 
chase. Suspect threw several baggies into the air. When suspect arrested, the baggies 
were found to contain cocaine 

11. Case #2025-13543- on 02/14/2025 Officer McGuirk #287 
Officer observed a subject who was previously trespassed from the store. Upon arrest for 
trespass, the suspect was found to be in possession of heroin 

Due to the twenty-five (25) year history of the property, particularly the last thirteen (13) years, it 
is evident that the property owner and/or tenants have refused to take effective actions to stop or deter the 
illegal activity occurring on their property. The store employees are often observed outside mingling with 
the people gathered there that are committing crimes, right in front of them, without any indication of 
attempting to deter these illegal actions or calling police. To the contrary, their presence outside seems to 
encourage the gatherings and illegal activity. 

The property is frequented by convicted felons with histories of crimes for use and possession of 
illegal drugs and other miscellaneous and violent crimes. The property is used by the patrons as a place to 
gather, sell, use, and distribute illegal narcotics. These persons congregate daily at the property. Persons are 
coming to and from the property for the purpose of obtaining, selling, or using illegal narcotics. 

On 05/14/2025, a warning letter was sent to the owner/s of the property to ensure that there was 
notification of what has been occurring on the property over just the last year, as a measure of what has 
been a continuous nuisance over the past thirteen (13) years. The letter was sent via certified mail with 
receipt returned as delivered on 05/17/2025. The letter requested a meeting with the owner/s to discuss 
steps moving forward. This was a good faith effort to work together with the owner/s to stop the illegal 
activity. 

As of 05/29/2025, there was no response by the owner/s to the Lakeland Police Department, Ofc. 
Hammersla, or any other known city staff. 

On 05/29/2025, Affiant sent another letter to the owner via certified mail. This letter again outlined 
the crimes occurring on the property and the intent to abate the property if the owner took no actions to 
deter the crime or respond to the letter. The return receipt advised the letter was received on 06/02/2025 

3 of 5 



On 06/02/2025, received a phone call from the co-owner, Raia Odeh. I advised that there was a 
need for intervention by the owner with the tenant to deter the criminal activity on the property. She advised 
the business owner only visits the business once a week and that they ( owners of property) visit once a 
month. She stated that when they are there they do not see and are unaware of the crimes as described in 
the warning letters. We spoke about the problems, and she blamed the crimes as the fault of the Talbot 
House Ministries, homeless shelter, and a former employee, Robert Bellinger. Stated Bellinger called the 
police often and that is why the police were there so much. I requested Raia Odeh to call me back and 
advise what actions they were going to take. As of 06/19/2025 the owner had not reached back out with 
any updates. 

ADDITIONAL NARCOTICS AND OTHER CASES SINCE DIVERSION ATTEMPT 

06/02/25 TO 06/19/25: 

1. Case #2025-49371 on 06/03/25 Police service call 
2. Case #2025-50343 on 06/06/25 Suspicious person call 
3. Case #2025-50395 on 06/06/25 Trespassing call 
4. Case #2025-50393 on 06/06/25 Trespassing call 
5. Case #2025-50565 on 6/7/2025 Officer Saltis #327 

Officer witnessed a hand-to-hand narcotics transaction and was able to arrest the seller 
and buyer. The seller and buyer were in possession of Synthetic Cannabis and drug 
paraphernalia. 

6. Case #2025-50770 on 06/08/25 Suspicious person call 
7. Case #2025-51311 on 06/10/25 Shoplifting call 
8. Case #2025-53354 on 06/16/25 Suspicious person call 
9. Case #2025-53462 on 06/17 /25 Trespassing call 
10. Case #2025-54146 on 06/19/25 Trespassing arrest 

The Lakeland Police Department has maintained a constant presence in the neighborhood and has 
used every resource available to deter the illegal activity, to include installing a live-feed PTZ pole camera 
overlooking the exterior of the store and surrounding areas at significant cost to the city. The property has 
clearly shown a pattern of illegal activity associated with a place or premises within the corporate limits 
of the city and serves to encourage future illegal activity on or about this premises. Such illegal activity 
is injurious to the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the city, and corrupts the public morals. 
The property constitutes a public nuisance and may be abated in accordance with the law. 

We believe that 815 North Massachusetts Avenue should be abated pursuant to Article IV, Sec 38, 
Nuisance Abatement Ordinance, of the city of Lakeland. I respectfully request that the Nuisance Abatement 
Board find that 815 North Massachusetts Avenue constitutes a "public nuisance" as described in Section 
38-86, of the City Code and FSS 893. 

4 of 5 



The above and foregoing information in this affidavit is true and correct to the best of my 
knowledge. Executed on the 20th day of June 2025. 

STATE OF FLORIDA) 

COUNTY OF POLK ) 

~~~~ 
~ Hamnmia 

Lakeland Police Department 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this day before me, an officer duly qualified to take 
acknowledgments, personally appeared Officer Michael Hammersla, known to me to be the person 
described in and who executed the foregoing instrument and who acknowledged before me that he executed 
same. 

WITNESS my hand and seal this 1£)_ day of _J~y~l'"'\~ e.,_~ ---~• 2025. 

ESTHER OTT 
MY COMMISSION# HH 604m 

EXPIR&8: flblwi,y 21, -

Notary Public, State of Florida 
My Commission Expires: 

s of 5 


	07-16-25 Agenda
	2025-004 - Notice 1639 Norman Drive
	2025-004 - Complaint - 1639 Norman Drive
	2025-004 AFFIDAVIT OF Derek Rivers
	2025-005 - Notice - 815 N Massachusetts Ave
	2025-005 - Complaint 815 N Massachusetts Ave



